Capsule Summary of 167 Duke of Gloucester Street (AA-1338)

Currently owned by the First Presbyterian Church and leased to the YWCA Woman’s Center, 167
Duke of Gloucester Street was originally built as a single-family dwelling in the years between 1900
and 1903. The lot on which the building stands was historically associated with the 18th century
property at 139 Market Street. In 1820, .the large tract of land was subdivided and sold in lots to
individual owners. This parcel along with the lét of land on which 169 Duke of Gloucester Street
stands was sold together and remained a single lot of land until it, too, was subdivided in 1920.
Around the turn of the century, the owner of the property, Thomas Tydings, Jr., demolished a one-

story frame structure on the site and built the present house at 167 Duke of Gloucester.

The former dwelling is sandwiched between the First Presbyterian Church at the corner of Duke of
Gloucester and Conduit Streets and the former firechouse building at the corner of Duke of
Gloucester and Market Streets. It faces Duke of Gloucester Street and stands two-and-one-half-
stories in height. Set upon a raised, brick foundation, the wood frame house is covered with a stucco
veneer and features a three-bay wide front elevation with a side-passage entry door. The gable roof
is sheathed in standing seam metal and features two front dormers, a single rear dormer and an off-
center central chimney. An original two-story shed-roof wing extends from the rear elevation of the

main building and stretches towards the back of the lot.
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ANNAPOLIS SURVEY

1. Name of Property

historic name

other names _YWCA Woman’s Center

2. Location

street & number _167 Duke of Gloucester not

for publication _
vicinity ___

city or town _Annapolis
state _Maryland code county

code ___

zip code _21401

3. State/Federal Agency Certification N/A
4. National Park Service Certification N/A
5. Classification
Ownership of Property (Check all that apply)
X private
_____ public-local
public-State
public-Federal
Category of Property (Check only one box)
X building(s)
district
site
___ structure
object
Number of Resources within Property
Contributing Noncontributing
1 buildings
_ - sites
structures
objects
1 - Total

Is this property listed in the National Register?
Yes _X Name of Listing _Annapolis Historic District

No
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6. Function or Use
Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions)
Cat: _Domestic Sub: _Single dwelling

Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions)

Cat: _Social Sub: _Civic
Religious Church Related

7. Description

Architectural Classification (Enter categories from instructions)
Federal Revival

Materials (Enter categories from instructions)
foundation _Parged brick
roof _Standing Seam Metal
walls _Stucco over wood frame

other

Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current condition
of the property.) See Continuation Sheet No. _7-1
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria (Mark "x" in one or more
boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National
Register listing)

A Property is assoéiated with events that have made a
significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

X C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components 1lack
indivicual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or 1is 1likely to vyield
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations (Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.)

X A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

B removed from its original location.

a birthplace or a grave.

0

a cemetery.
a reconstructed building, object,or structure.

a commemorative property.

@ m ® o

less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.
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Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions)
Architecture

Period of Significance _1900-1903

Significant Dates _1900-1903

Significant Person (Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/Builder _unknown

Narrative Statement of Significance (Explain the significance of
the property.) See Continuation Sheet No. _8-1
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9. Major Bibliographical References

(Cite the books, articles, legal records, and other sources used in
preparing this form.)

Articles, Books, Published and Unpublished Sources

Anderson, Elizabeth B. Annapolis: A Walk Through History.
Centreville, MD: Tidewater Publishers, 1984.

Annapolis Historic District. National Register of Historic Places
Inventory-Nomination Form. 1984.

Anne Arundel County Assessment Records. 1876-1896; 1896-1905;
1904-1910. Maryland State Archives. Record Group C35.

Anne Arundel County Equity Records. Case Number 915. Anne Arundel
County Courthouse and Maryland State Archives, Annapolis, Maryland.

Anne Arundel County Land Records. Anne Arundel County Courthouse
and Maryland State Archives, Annapolis, Maryland.

McWilliams, Jane. "Historical Title Search and Documentation, 163
Duke of Gloucester Street, Annapolis, Maryland." Prepared for Port
of Annapolis, February 1991.

The Maryland Comprehensive Historic Preservation Plan. Maryland

Historical Trust. Department of Economic and Community
Development, June 1986.

Papenfuse, Edward. "Southern Urban Society after the Revolution:
Annapolis, Maryland, 1782-1786." Final Report for NEH Grant #H69-
0-178, Historic Annapolis Foundation, 1969.

Record Group 29 "Records of the Bureau of the Census." 1850, 1880,
1900, 1910 and 1920 Census; Anne Arundel County, Maryland.

Maps and Drawings

Bird’s Eye View of the City of Annapolis, Chas, Magnus, 1864,
Reproduced, 1967.

Gray’s New Map of Annapolis, Anne Arundel County, MD., 1877.
Hopkins, G.M. Map of Annapolis, 1877.

Map of Annapolis, Southern Map Company, Baltimore, MD., 1905.
Plan of Annapolis, Geo. H. Shafer, 25 July 1718.

Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps, 1885, 1891, 1896, 1897, 1903, 1908,
1913, 1921, 1930, 1954. '
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property _991 square feet

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the
property.) :

The property at 167 Duke of Gloucester Street occupies Parcel 704
on Tax Map 32 for Annapolis.

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.)

167 Duke of Gloucester Street has occupied this parcel of land
since the building’s construction in the period 1897-1903.

11. Form Prepared By

name/title _Kim Williams

organization _Traceries date _February 3, 1993
street & number 1606 20th St., N.W, telephone (202)232-6870
city or town Washington, D.C. state zip code 20009

12. Property Owner

name First Presbyterian Church
street & number 175 Duke of Gloucester telephone (410)267-8705
city or town Annapolis state _MD zip code 21401
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Built 1900-1903, the building at 167 Duke of Gloucester Street is
one of several one-time residential buildings sandwiched between
the First Presbyterian Church at the corner of Duke of Gloucester
and Conduit Streets and the former firehouse building at the corner
of Duke of Gloucester and Market Streets. The building,
originally built as a single-family residence, is a semi-detached
structure. On the north end, 167 Duke of Gloucester abuts the
building at 169 Duke of Gloucester, while on the south end, an
approximately 12-foot-wide passageway divides 167 Duke of
Gloucester from 165 Duke of Gloucester and provides access to the
rear of each building.

The one-time residential building faces Duke of Gloucester Street
and stands two-and-one-half-stories in height. Set upon a raised,
brick foundation, the wood frame house is covered with a stucco
veneer and features a three-bay wide front elevation with a side-
passage entry door. The gable roof is sheathed in standing seam
metal and features two front dormers, a single rear dormer and an
off-center central chimney. An original two-story shed-roof wing
extends from the rear elevation of the main building and stretches
towards the back of the lot.

Designed in a vernacular expression of the Federal Revival style,
the house also features details that recall the Italianate style.
As is typical of an urban setting, only the front elevation of the
building received special design attention; the exposed side and
rear elevations were sparsely detailed.

The front elevation consists of a three-bay facade with a side-
passage entry door towards the north end and tall and narrow 2/2
windows on the south side of the door. The narrow entry door
features a multi-light replacement door with a single-light transom
above.

The second floor of the building features three, shorter 2/2
windows. Above the second floor a bracketed wood cornice supports
the gable roof. Two dormers, projecting from this front roof
elevation, have pedimented front gable roofs and contain 2/2
windows. A brick chimney protrudes from the center of the roof at
its ridgeline.

While the northern side of the building abuts the dwelling next to
it, the southern side elevation is exposed. Here, a series of
window openings on the first, second and attic levels fenestrate
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the smooth wall surface. - An original two-story, two-bay wing
extends from the rear elevation and offers two door openings to the
back yard. These two entries are located in a first floor entry
recession on the south and west walls of the building. The second
floor above the entries overhangs the recessed porch-like area.
The walls of the entry recession have not been stuccoed and reveal
the original German siding. The original four-panelled wood doors
with a single-light transom above survive in both door openings.

The interior of 167 Duke of Gloucester Street presents a side-
passage, double-parlor plan. The main entry door opens directly
into a narrow side hall with a flight of stairs located immediately
in front of the door and against the northern side wall. The
straight-flight stairs feature turned balusters, a sturdy, turned
newell post and a continuous jigsaw wood relief ornamenting the
closed string running from the first floor to the attic level.

The hall opens on the south side into the front parlor room and
leads directly back into the rear room. The front room, reached
through a single door with bullseye molding is square in plan. The
room retains the original molded door and window trim, a marbleized
stone mantel, and a round ceiling medallion with flower relief
decoration. The fireplace, located on center of the rear wall, is
flanked on the northern side by a recess and on the southern side
by a door leading into the rear room. The four-paneled wood and

molded surround with the single-light transom are original. The
fireplace mantel appears to be slate with geometric marbelized
ornamentation.! The mantelpiece shelf is supported by pairs of

stone brackets.

Entered from the end of the hall, the rear parlor extends across
the entire width of the house. This room similarly offers original
features including the molded window and door trim, the fireplace
mantel, and a ceiling medallion--all identical to those found in
the front room. The rear wall of this back parlor has two door
openings with original molded trim: one leads directly outside to
the back yard, while the other leads into the original Kkitchen
space.

! This mantelpiece, though not identical, recalls the mantelpieces found at
132 and 134 conduit Street. This pair of houses was built within the same time
frame.
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The kitchen, now a storage area for the offices occupying the
building, is located in the rear ell of the house which extends
approximately 9/10 the width of the building. This ell is original
to the construction of the house and appears to have been built
originally as a kitchen. No longer serving as a kitchen, only the
walls and original molded window and door surrounds survive.

Reached by the flight of stairs off of the front hall, the second
floor is defined by a wide longitudinal corridor at the end of
which runs a narrow transverse corridor. Two rooms open off the
main corridor, while a bathroom and small room are located off the
transverse corridor. Original bullseye moldings around the doors
and windows are found throughout the second floor rooms.

The third floor of the building, defined as a half-story on the
exterior, is not one large open space as might be expected.
Instead, a corridor, 1lit by one of the front dormer windows, opens
onto two rooms. The rear room is lit by the rear dormer and side
window; the front room is lit by a side window and one of the two
front dormers. Unlike the molded window trim found around the
first floor windows, the windows on this third floor are surrounded
by bullseye molding. Although not consistent throughout the house,
both the molded and bullseye surrounds are original.
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Currently owned by the First Presbyterian Church and leased to the
YWCA Woman’s Center, 167 Duke of Gloucester Street was originally
built as a single-family dwelling in the years between 1900 and
1903.2 The lot on which the building stands was historically
associated with the 18th century property at 139 Market Street. 1In
1820, this part of the large tract of land was subdivided and
several buildings were erected on the individual lots during the
mid-to late 19th century.

The land upon which the house sits was originally part of Lot 33 on
the Stoddert Map of 1718 and owned at that time by Charles Carroll.
In 1762, Lot 33, along with adjacent Lot 34 and 1/2 Lot 35 came
into the possession of John Hall who held the land as one large
tract. Hall was a prominent attorney from a noted Anne Arundel
County family, who lived at the 18th century house located at 139
Market Street.

Following John Hall'’s death, the property remained in the Hall
family until 1809 when it was sold to James H. Weems. Within a
year, Weems sold the property, in its entirety, to Henry Maynadier,
who later sold the land to insolvent debtor, George Medkiff.3? 1In
1820, the judge presiding over the Medkiff case appointed Nicholas
Brewer, Jr. trustee, to sell the real and personal property of
Medkiff for the benefit of his creditors.*

At that time, Medkiff’s property was divided, breaking apart the
large tract of land consisting of Stoddert Lots 33, 34 and 1/2 35
that had been consolidated by John Hall in 1809. A plat prepared
by John Duvall, surveyor, July 1820 shows that part of Lot 33 was
divided into a series of 10 lots along Duke of Gloucester Street,
eight with 25-foot frontages and two with 31.5-foot frontages. The
property at 167 Duke of Gloucester Street sits on the parcel of
land designated Lot 7 which had a 25-foot frontage on Duke of

? According to the U.S. Census records, no house was located at 167 Duke of
Gloucester Street in 1900. By 1903, however, according to the sanborn Fire
Insurance Map, the house had been built.

® No deed between Maynadier and George Medkiff is recorded for this
property. However, later deeds make reference to Medkiff's ownership of the
land, as do the Anne Arundel County Court Papers, 1815-1839, Medkiff Insolvency
Case.

* anne Arundel County Court Papers, 1815-1839, Medkiff Insolvency Case.
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Gloucester Street and extended back 81 feet. All ten of these lots
were advertised for sale in the Maryland Gazette on June 1, 1820
and were sold by Brewer between 1820 and 1838.°

In 1820, Joseph Williams purchased both Lot 7 and the adjacent Lot
6 (now designated 169 Duke of Gloucester) from the divided Medkiff
lands. The two unimproved 1lots sold together for a total of
$328.00. After Joseph Williams purchased the property, the land
passed through the hands of various owners, until 1864 when it was
purchased by William and Anna Marie Dadds® for a total of
$2,500.00. The high value paid for the property, especially in
comparison to what the land sold for in 1820, indicates that the
improvement now designated 169 Duke of Gloucester Street stood on
the site by that time.

In 1878, Thomas Tydings purchased the property from William and
Anna Maria Dadds. In 1882, Tydings died without a will (his wife
died prior to him) leaving his four children, two of whom were
minors, as heirs according to the law. George Tydings (Thomas’
oldest son) and his wife Mary who wanted a legal partition of
Thomas Tydings’ real estate, took 1legal action for a formal
division of Tydings’ property. Tydings owned several parcels of
land in the City of Annapolis as well as a farm in Anne Arundel
county.” George and Mary Tydings were interested in selling the
farm and using the money for the minor children (Clara and Thomas).

In March 1883, the Circuit Court ordered and decreed that there be
a survey for the partition of Thomas Tydings land. John Duvall,
surveyor, surveyed and platted the real estate holdings of Thomas
Tydings. According to this plat, Thomas Tydings, Jr. was awarded
Lot Ef, assessed at $1,500.° In the period between 1900 and 1903,

$ Jane McWilliams, "Historical Title Search and Documentation 163 Duke of
Gloucester Street, Annapolis, Maryland." Prepared for Port of Annapolis, Inc.
February 1991.

¢ The U.S. Census for 1850 lists William Dadds as a blacksmith.

’ Equity Case No. 915.

® In the text of Equity Case 915, the land is divided into numbered lots;
on the plat, prepared by John Duvall, the lot designated Lot 4 in the text is
designated as Lot E on the plat.
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Thomas Tydings, Jr. constructed the present 167 Duke of Gloucester,
on the property. This dwelling was built on the site of a single-
story frame building that abutted the mid-19th century dwelling
next door at 169 Duke of Gloucester Street. This frame building,
shown as a shed on the 1885 Sanborn map and as a cobbler shop on
the 1891 Sanborn map, was home to a Mulatto family, headed by
Charles Johnson, servant. Neither this single-story frame
building, nor the present house on the site were listed in the 1900
census, indicating that the one-story building had been demolished,
but the new one had not yet been erected.

In 1910, Thomas Tydings, Jr., listed as a saloon-keeper, lived at
the newly erected house on the site with his sister, and brother-
in-law, their children, a cousin, as well as another border.’ a
total of nine individuals were living in the house at that time.
In 1920, Thomas Tydings divided this lot, Lot E, into two parcels
and sold the portion occupied by 169 Duke of Gloucester Street.
Tydings held onto the portion of the land occupied by 167 Duke of
Gloucester Street and continued to live at that address with his
sister and brother-in-law as well as other family members and
borders until his death, when it was transferred, by will, to his
sister, Clara Tydings Russell. In 1936, this same property was
devised to Clara’s son, Edward Russell and his wife, Imelda
Russell, by Clara Tydings Russell’s will.

In 1965, the First Presbyterian Church of the City of Annapolis
purchased the property from Imelda Russell and currently leases it
to the YWCA Woman’s Center.

* The decreased value of land from $2,500 in 1864 to $1,500 in 1883 cannot
be explained.

19 vhe U.S. Census Records for 1910, indicate that Tydings’' brother-in-law,
George Russell, a post office clerk, was the head of the household and that he
rented the house. Tydings is shown as living there, but no indication of his
ownership of the property is given.
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Historic Period Theme: Architecture, Landscape Architecture and
Community Planning

Geographic Organization: Western Shore
Chronological/Developmental Period:Industrial/Urban Dominance

Resource Type(s): Standing Structures
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Chain of Title for 167 Duke of Gloucester Street:

1855: Moses and Mary E. Lake to Matilda B. Harrison. Liber NHG
5 Folio 19. :
1863: Matilda B. Harrison to Nicholas Brewer of John Brewer.

Liber NHG 11 Folio 450.

1864: Nicholas Brewer of John and Barbara Brewer to William and
Anna Marie Dadds. Liber NHG 12 Folio 101.

1878: William and Anna Maria Dadds to Thomas Tydings. Liber SH
12 Folio 407.

Property enters into Equity Case #915. George R. Tydings and Mary
Tydings vs. Charles C. Tydings, Clara Tydings and Thomas Tydings,
Jr. Liber SH 14 Folio 236. A deed of partition resulting from the
equity case allotted Thomas Tydings, Jr. the portion of land now
occupied by 167 Duke of Gloucester Street.

1936: M. Clare M. Green, Trustee, to Edward L. and Imelda G.
Russell. Liber FAM 158 Folio 142.

1965: Imelda G. Russell to Trustees of the First Presbyterian
Church of the City of Annapolis in Connection with the
General Assembly of the United Presbyterian Church in the
United States of America. Liber 1888 Folio 211.
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MARYLAND HISTORICAL TRUST
21 STATE CIRCLE
SHAW HOUSE

" ANNAPOLIS, MARYLAND 21401

HISTORIC SITES SURVEY FIELD SHEET
Individual Structure Survey Form

SURVEY NUMBER: A‘A’ {33%

NEGATIVE FILE NUMBER:

UTM REFERENCES:
Zone/Easting/Northing

U.S5.G.S. QUAD. MAP:

PRESENT FORMAL NAME:

o W o .

FUNCTIONAL TYPE: Res Map3?2 Par 203

COUNTY: Anne Arundel ORIGINAL FORMAL NAME: :
TOWN: Annapolis —
LOCATION: | PRESENT USE: Office/Apartments :
ARCHITECT/ENGINEER:
COMMON NAME:
BUILDER/CONTRACTOR :

OWNER: First Presbyterian Church
ADDRESS: 144 Conduit

PHYSICAL CONDITION OF STRUCTURE:

ACCESSIBILITY TO PUBLIC:

Excellent ( ) Good (X)
Annapolis, MD 21401 Fair ( ) Poor: ( )
THEME : !

Yes (X ) No () Restricted ( ) STYLE: vVernacular (Annapolis Federarl)
LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE: (::) DATE BUILT: 1885-1891
Local ( State ( ) Natiomal ( )

GENERAL DESCRIPTION:
Structural System
1. Foundation:
2. Wall Structure
A. Wood Frame:
B. Wood Bearing Masonry:
C. Iron( ) D. Steel( ) E.
3. Wall Covering:

Bonding Pattern:
4. Roof Structure
A. Truss:
B. Other:
5. Roof Covering:

6. Engineering Structure:

7. Other:

Appendages:
Wings ( )Other:

Roof Style:

Other:
Number of Stories:
Number of Bays:
Approximate Dimensions:

2 1/2
3 x4
30 x 40

Stone( )Brick(X)Concrete( )Concrete Block( )

Post and Beam( )Balloon(X)

Brick( )Stone( )Concrete( )Concrete Block( )
Other:

Clapboard( )Board and Batten( )Wood Shingle( )Shiplap( )

Novelty( )Stucco(X)Sheet Metal( )Aluminum( )Asphalt Shingle( )

Brick Veneer( )Stone Veneer( ) Asbestos Shingle( )

Other:

Wood(X)Iron( )Steel( )Concrete( )

Slate( )Wood Shingle( )Asphalt Shingle( )Sheet Metal(X)
Built Up( )Rolled( )Tile( )Other:

Porches( )Towers( )Cupolas( )Dormers(X)Chimneys(X)Sheds( )Ells(X)

Gable( Y)Hip( )Shed( )Flat( )Mansard( )Gambrel( )Jerkinhead( )
Saw Tooth( )With Monitor( WithBellcast( )With Parapet( )With False Front( )

Entrance Location:

Right

THREAT TO STRUCTURE:

No Threat(X )Zoning( )Roads( )
Development( )Deterioration( )
Alteration ( )Other:

LOCAL ATTITUDES:
Positive( )Negative( )
Mixed( ) Other:




ADDITIONAL ARCHITECTURAL OR STRUCTURAL DESCRIPTION:

Pedimented dormers, bracketed cornice with deep frieze, molded window and
transom lit door caps.

RELATED STRUCTURES:

(Describe)

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE:

Moderate example of Vernacular Annapolis Federal of the late 19thC with Neo-
Classic detailing at the dormers, contributes to streetscape.

REFERENCES:

MAP

(Indicate North In Circle)

SURROUNDING ENVIRONMENT:

Open Lane( )Woodland( )Scattered Buildings( )
Moderately Built Up( )Densely-Built Up(
Residential( )Commercial( )

Agricultural( )Industrial( )

Roadside Strip Development( )

Other:

RECORDED BY:
Russell Wright

ORGANIZATION: .
Historic Annapolis, Inc

DATE RECORDED: 3
3 ‘J
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167 Duke of G1 AR 1332
Annapolis, Anne Arundel County
Russell Wright July, 1982
Maryland Historical Trust,
Annapolis, Maryland
M_Elevation/camera facing SE



